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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

DEBORAH DEE LITTLE, ET AL,
Plaintiffs,

V.
WILLIAM D. GORE, ET AL,

Defendants.

On September 12, 2014, Plaintiffs lideah Dee Little ad Dennis George

Doc. 17

Case No. 14-cv-02181-BAS(IJMA)
ORDER:

(1) DENYING MOTION TO
DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’
COMPLAINT OF
DEFENDANT SHELLEY
ZIMMERMAN (ECF NO. 3);

(2) GRANTING IN PART AND
DENYING IN PART MOTION
TO DISMISS THE SECOND,
THIRD, AND FOURTH
CAUSES OF ACTION OF
PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT
FILED ON BEHALF OF
DEFENDANTS WILLIAM D.
GORE, MATTHEW STEVENS
QIEI)D%VAN SOBCZAK (ECF

(3) GRANTING IN PART AND
DENYING IN PART JUSTIN
FAW'S MOTION TO DISMISS
PLAINTIFF’'S COMPLAINT
(ECF NO. 13)

Little (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) commened this action against Defendants William

D. Gore (“Gore”), as Shdf for the County of San Diego, Shelley Zimmerman
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(“Zimmerman”), as Chief of Police fothe City of San Diego, Matt Stevens
(“Stevens”), a Deputy Sheriff for ¢h County of San Diego, Evan Sobcrak
(“Sobczak”), a Deputy Sherifbr the County of San Dgo, Paul Paxton (“Paxton’),

a Detective for the San Diego Police Depaant, and Justin Fa(WFaw”), a Special

|1~4

Agent for the Drug Enforcement Adminidiian (“DEA”). Preseatly before the¢
Court are (1) a motion to dismiss all casf action filed by Zimmerman, (2] a
motion to dismiss the second, third, andrth causes of action filed by Stevens [and
Sobczak, and all causes of action by Gongt @) a motion to dismiss all causes$ of
action by Faw.

The Court finds these motions suitablor determination on the papers
submitted and without oral argumerfteeCiv. L.R. 7.1(d)(1). For the reasons set
forth below, the CourDENIES Zimmerman’s motion talismiss (ECF No. 3);
GRANTS IN PART andDENIES IN PART the motion to dismiss filed by Gore,
Sobczak and Stevens (ECF No. 7); @RIANTS IN PART andDENIES IN PART
Faw’s motion to dismiss (ECF No. 13).
l. BACKGROUND

On October 16, 2012, Stevens swore fida¥it to San Digo County Superiar
Court stating that he observed “waler 100 growing marijuana plants” pn
Plaintiffs’ property while conducting aatireconnaissance @eptember 17, 2012
and October 11, 2012. (ECF No. 1 (“Cdrfjpat 7 11-12.) Plaintiffs allege
Defendant Stevens “knew from his obsd¢imas that there were well under 100
marijuana plants on the [property] bembellished his observations in order to
deceive Judge Rubin into issg a search warrant.” Id. at § 12.) Judge RuRin
subsequently issued a search warrant@uing the search of Plaintiffs’ property
and the seizure of any marijuandd. @t 1 12.)

At 5:00 a.m. on October 17, 2012, Stevens, Sobczak, Paxton, and Faw
(collectively, the “Defendant Officet), members of the San Diego County

Integrated Narcotics Task Fascexecuted the search warrahPlaintiffs’ property.
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(Id. at 15.) The Defendant Officers, “dsed in military-style fatigues and arn

with firearms, some of which were assaifles, stormed [Plaintiffs’ property] in

SWAT-style raid withweapons drawn.” I¢. at § 16.) Upon entering Plaintiff

property, the Defendant Officers locatbtt. Little, arrested him and put him
handcuffs. Id. at 1 17.) Stevens allegedly “gtiened [Mr. Little] without readin
him Miranda rights despite keeping [Mr. Little] in handcuffs.'ld(at § 18.) Th
Defendant Officers then located Mrgitle, and Sobczak “arrested [her] by putt
handcuffs on [her] wrists behiriger back and locking her the rear seaif his patro

vehicle with the air conditioning runrgn despite the cold air outsidéd.(at T 19.

ned
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Prior to her arrest, Mrs. Little informdtie Defendant Officers that “she has been

sick for the past two mohsg with pneumonia.” I4. at 119.)

“After an unknown period of time, [Stens] questioned [k&. Little] without
reading heMirandarights.” (d. at § 20.) Sobczak then removed Mrs. Little f
the patrol vehicle “after an unknown periodiafie” and ordered li¢o remain seats
in a chair. [d. at § 21.) Before sitting down, BlrLittle, who was wearing on
shorts and a t-shirt, informed the Defendafficers “that the chair was on top of

anthill of red ants and thatshvas extremely allergic t@d ants, that she was v

cold, and that she was suffering frovarious symptoms of HIV.” I1d.) Despite

informing the Defendant Officers on several occasions that she needed to
bathroom and could not control her bladder because of radiation damage
bladder and intestines from her cancer trestmMrs. Little was not allowed to u
the bathroom.Id. at § 22.) As aresult, she involarily relieved herslf while seate
outside and was unable to change intorclgathing until the Defendant Officers |
the property. 1¢.)

At the time of the search, Plaintiffgere “valid qualifed patients under Cz:
Health & Safety [Code$8 11362.5 and 11362.765,” and Mittle was Mrs. Little’s
primary caregiver. I{. at T 24.) Plaintiffs allege the Defendant Officers seart

the property were aware of these factsl.) (

—-3- 14cv02181
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In the course of conducting the searStevens claimed the Defendant Offigers

located over 640 pounds of marijuana “in the form of untrimmed buds, pag

marijuana, and marijuana edibles.fd.(at 1 25.) Plaintiffs allege that “[i]n reality,

[they] were in possession of far les®@essed and unprocedsmarijuana.” id.)
Plaintiffs allege the Defendant Officerssti®yed the seized mpana the following
day by dumping it at the Miramar Landfillld( at 7 26.)

On November 5, 2012, the San Diego Coubistrict Attorney filed a criming
complaint charging Plaintiffs with on@ent of unlawful possession of marijuana
sale in violation of California Healtmd Safety Code seom 11359, and one col

of unlawful cultivation of marijuana in glation of California Health and Safe

Code section 11358.1d( at § 27.) In the course pfetrial hearings, the trial courrt

granted a motion to exalle evidence pursuant Asizona v. Youngbloqdi88 U.S

kaged

I
for

nt

ty

51 (1988) andCalifornia v. Trombetta 467 U.S. 479 (1984), “finding that the

[Defendant] [O]fficers had violated the [ié&ffs’] due processights by destroyin

material, exculpatory evidence.ld(at  28.) Atthe end oféttrial, the jury returned

a verdict of not guilty on the charge whlawful possession and deadlocked orj

charge of unlawful cultivation.Id. at 9 29.) The trial court ultimately dismissed

©Q

the
the

cultivation count in the furtherance ofsfice pursuant to California Penal Code

section 1385. I¢.)

Plaintiffs commenced this action o8eptember 12, 2014 asserting

the

following causes of action in violation dR U.S.C. § 1983: (1) search and seizure

unsupported by a warrant against Steyef2) unreasonable search againsg
defendants; (3) excessive ¢eragainst all defendants; (M)randaviolations againg
Stevens; and (5) due process violations against all defendants.
.  LEGAL STANDARD

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule ) of the FedeteRules of Civil

Procedure tests the legal sufficiency of themtaasserted in the complaint. Fed,

all
t

R.

Civ. P. 12(b)(6);Navarro v. Block 250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir. 2001). The court
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must accept all allegations wiaterial fact pleaded in tlomplaint as true and must
construe them and drawll aeasonable inferences from them in favor of|the
nonmoving party. Cahill v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Cg 80 F.3d 336, 337-38 (9th Qir.
1996). To avoid a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissa complaint need not contain detailed
factual allegations, rather, it must pleaddeagh facts to state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face.”Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). 1A
claim has facial plausibilityvhen the plaintiff pleads fagal content that allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference thatdefendant is liable for the misconduct
alleged.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citinigvombly 550 U.S. at
556). “Where a complaint pleads facts tha merely consistemiith a defendant’s
liability, it stops short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitiement
to relief.” Id. at 678 (quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 557) (internal quotations
omitted).

“[A] plaintiff's obligation to providethe ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to
relief’ requires more than lalseand conclusions, andfarmulaic recitation of thg
elements of a cause of action will not doTwombly 550 U.S. at 555 (quoting
Papasan v. Allain478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986) (altemtiin original)). A court negd
not accept “legal conclusions” as trukgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. “[T]o be entitled|to
the presumption of truth, allegationsarcomplaint or counterclaim may not simply
recite the elements of a c®iof action, but must canh sufficient allegations of
underlying facts to give fair notice anddoable the opposing party to defend itself
effectively.” Starr v. Baca 652 F. 3d 1202, 1216 (9th Cir. 2011). Despite| the
deference the court must pay to the plafistdllegations, it is not proper for the court
to assume that “the [plaintiffan prove facts that [he she] has not alleged or that
defendants have violated the...lawsnays that have not been alleged\5sociated
Gen. Contractors of Cal., Inc. v. Cal. State Council of Carpend&d U.S. 519, 526
(1983).
I
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Generally, courts may not consider mietieoutside the complaint when ruli
on a motion to dismissHal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner &.(dac., 896
F.2d 1542, 1555 n.1®th Cir. 1990)Branch v. Tunnell14 F.3d 449, 453 (9th C
1994) (overruled on other grounds &galbraith v. Cnty of Santa Clar807 F.3¢
1119, 1121 (9th Cir. 2002)YHowever, material which iproperly submitted as pa
of the complaint may be considereddal Roach Studios, Inc896 F.2d at 1555,
19. Documents specifically identified the complaint whose authenticity is
guestioned by the parties may also be considdfedht v. Price Cq 70 F.3d 107§
1080 n.1 (9th Cir. 1995) (superseded by statute on other grosedsdjso Brancl
14 F.3d at 453-54. Such documents maydmsiclered, so long as they are referel
in the complaint, even they are not physicallyt@ched to the pleadingranch 14
F.3d at 453-54see alsd_ee v. City of Los Angelea50 F.3d 668, 688 (9th Cir. 20(
(rule extends to documents upon which themntiff's complaint “necessarily relie:
but which are not explicitly incorporatedtime complaint). Moreover, the court n

consider the full text of those documemgen when the complaint quotes @

selected portionsFecht 70 F.3d at 1080 n.1. Addimally, the court may consij‘er
9

materials which are judicially noticeabl&arron v. Reich13 F.3d 1370, 1377 (
Cir. 1994).

As a general rule, a court freely gralgave to amend a complaint which
been dismissed. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15&0hreiber Distrib. Cov. Serv-Well Furnitur
Co., 806 F.2d 1393, 1401 (9th Cir. 1986). Hoee leave to anrel may be denig
when “the court determines that the gd&on of other facts consistent with
challenged pleading could not possibly cure the deficien8glireiber Distrib. Co
806 F.2d at 1401 (citinBonanno v. Thomas809 F.2d 320, 322 (9th Cir. 1962)).
[ll. DISCUSSION

Zimmerman moves to dismiss all causésction for failure to state a cla
under Federal Rule of Civitrocedure 12(b)(6). (ECF No. 3.) Stevens and Sol

move to dismiss the second, third, andrfb causes of action, and Gore move

-6 - 14cv02181
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dismiss all causes of action, for failuresiate a claim under Rule 12(b)(6). (ECF
No. 7.) Faw moves to disss all causes of action pursuamtiRule 12(b)(6) on the
grounds that Plaintiffs’ claims againstrhare barred by qualifisdhmunity, and that
Plaintiffs improperly broughdection 1983, rather th&ivens claims against him as
a federal officer. (ECF No. 13.)

A. Zimmerman’s Motion to Dismiss

Zimmerman moves to dismiss all causésiction in the Complaint, arguing
that she was not Chief of Police at the tiofighe incident, but rather the Assistant
Chief, and is therefore natproperly named defendant in this action, and that Paxton
was not acting as a San Didgolice Department Detective at the time of the incident,
but rather under the authority of the Diaigforcement Administration. (ECF No.|3-
1 at pp. 3-4.) As an initial matter, Zimmernramses factual disputes in her motion.
Courts may not consider material outside complaint when ruling on a motion to
dismiss, unless submitted as part of thenglaint, identified in the complaint, pr
materials which are judicially noticeabl&ee Hal Roach Studios, In896 F.2d gt
1555, n. 19Branch 14 F.3d at 453-58arron, 13 F.3d at 1377;ee 250 F.3d at
688. In support of her motion to dismiggnmerman does not submit any materials
or request judicial notice of the fact slwas not Chief of Police at the time of the
events underlying the Complaint, or tiRatxton was not acting asSan Diego Police
Department Detective at the time. Simpigking these arguments in her motion is
insufficient. Accordinglythese facts are not propebgfore the Court and cannot
be considered in deciding the motion to dismiss.

Regardless, the Court notes this is an official capacity anid “[o]fficial-

capacity suits . . . ‘generally representyomhother way of pleading an action against

1 Although Zimmerman argues it is uear whether she is being sued in
her official or individual capacity, the Coamt, in combination with Plaintiffs
opposition, make it clear that Zimmermarordy being sued in her official capacity.
See Grahamd73 U.S. at 167 n. 14 (where it is mtg¢ar in the compint whether anp
official is being sued personally, or inshor her official capacity, or both, “[t]he
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an entity of which anficer is an agent.”Kentucky v. Grahapd73 U.S. 159, 165

66 (1985) (citingMonell v. N.Y.C. Dat. of Soc. Servs436 U.S. 658, 690, n. |
(1978)). “As long as the government entigceives notice and an opportunity
respond, an official-capacity suit is, in alspects other than name, to be treated
suit against the entity.1d. (citing Brandon v. Holt469 U.S. 464, 471-472 (1985
“It is not a suit against the official personallyrfthe real party in interest is t
entity.” Id. at 166. Accordingly, this suit, which is solely brought agj
Zimmerman in her official capacity, is natsuit against her personally, but a
against the entity.

Moreover, under Federal Rule of CifAtocedure 25(d), if the prior Chief
Police had been named in the Complaint sdriher official capacity, once the pr
Chief ceased to hold office, “[t]he officer&iccessor is automatically substitute
a party.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 25(d). Therefoegen if the prior Chief of Police had bg

named in the Complaint, the current Gha Police, which is claimed to |

Zimmerman, would automaticallye substituted as a partysee Griffith v. Lanier

521 F.3d 398, 399 (D.C. Cir. 2008). Asinerman only moves to dismiss on
grounds she was an improperly named paetyause she was not the Chief of Po
and Paxton was not acting @assan Diego Police Departmddétective, at the tim
of the incident, for the foregoing reass, Zimmerman’'s motion to dismiss
DENIED .2

course of the proceedings such cases typically wiihdicate the nature of tk
liability sought to be imposed”);arez v. City of L.A946 F.2d 630, 640-41 (9th C
1991). Gee alsoCompl. at § 5 (Zimmerman *“is the chief policymaker
decisionmaker for the San Diego PolicepBegment on the use of force and
disposition of evidence.”); ECF No. 8 at 3 (“[T]he Complaint specifies th
Zimmerman is being sued in her official eagty as Chief of Police. . . . [Plaintiff
sued Zimmerman in her offici@apacity in order [to] reacthe City of San Diego.’
and p. 2 (“As Zimmerman is being suiedher official capacity....”).)

2 In her reply, Zimmerman alsogares that the Complaint’s allegatic
regarding the policies prongdted and adopted are vagunel conclusory. Howeve

because Zimmerman did not makés argument in her fiial motion to dismiss, the
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B. Faw’s Motion to Dismiss:Bivensvs. Section 1983

Faw, who Plaintiffs allege is a SpatiAgent with the Drug Enforcement
Administration, moves to dismiss all cass# action alleged against him “because
federal actors generally maot be held liable under 42.5.C. § 1983.” (ECF No.
13-1 at p. 16.) Instead, Faw argues, pnoper cause of action is pursuanBigens
v. Six Unknown Named AgemkFed. Bureau of Narcoticgl03 U.S. 388 (1971).
(Id.) Bivenspermits suits against “federal offats to compensatplaintiffs for
violations of their constitutional rightsW. Ctr. for Journalism v. Cederquis235
F.3d 1153, 1156 (9t€ir. 2000) (citingBivens 403 U.S. at 394), while section 1983
only provides a cause of action against person “acting under color of State law,”
Morse v. N. CoasDpportunities, Ing 118 F.3d 1338, 1343 (9th Cir. 1997) (citing
42 U.S.C. § 1983).

In their opposition to Faw’s motion to siniss, Plaintiffs assert that their
section 1983 claim against Fawablernatively asserted asBavensclaim, arguing
that they need not plead a specific legal thao long as sufficient factual allegations
show that Plaintiffs may be entitled to some#ief. (ECF No. 15 at p. 12.) Here,
Plaintiffs allege in the Complaint thBaw was a member tie San Diego County
Integrated Narcotics Task Force at thdiof the incident, and participated, alpng
with other members, in executing a Stamarch warrant at Plaintiffs’ property.
(Compl. at 11 14, 15, n. 1The search warrant resultedtie State bringing crimingl
charges against Plaintiffsld( at § 27.)

argument is waivedSee Somers v. Digital Realty Trust,.|ne- F. Supp. 3d ---f,
2015 WL 4483955, at *13 (N.D. Cal. July 22, 20148e also Zamani v. CarnetO1
F.3d 990, 997 (9th Cir. 2007) (finding districburt did not commit clear error |in
failing to consider arguments raised thbe first time on reply because it “need |not
consider arguments raised foretfirst time in a reply brief’);United States V.
Anderson472 F.3d 662, 668 (9th Cir. 2006) (ognizing the general principle that
arguments raised for the first tinmea reply brief are waivedRytch v. YoonNo. C
10-02915 MEJ, 2011 WL 839421, at *3 (N.D.|Qdar. 7, 2011) (explaining that
parties “cannot raise a new issuetfog first time in their reply briefs”)

-9 - 14cv02181
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“Although federal officia acting under federal dudrity are generally not
considered to be state actors, they malatsde under [section] 1983 if they are found
to have conspired with or acted in conoeith state officials to some substantial
degree.” Cabrera v. Martin 973 F.2d 735, 742 (9th Cir. 1992ge also Gibson .
United States781 F.2d 1334, 1343 (9th Cir. 198@lrederal officers acting under
federal authority are immune from suit undection 1983 unless the state of its
agents significantly participad in the challenged activity.”JThe touchstone of thjs
analysis is ultimately “whe#r there is a sufficiently obe nexus between the State
and the challenged action of the [federal a&jteo that the action of the latter may be
fairly treated as thaif the State itself.”ld. (quotingJackson v. Metro. Edison Cp
419 U.S. 345, 351 (1974)).

Given the foregoing, the Court finds tHalaintiffs have plausibly pled that
Faw was acting under colof state law.See e.g., Motley v. Park432 F.3d 1072,
1076-77 (9th Cir. 2005), overruled on other ground#Jhited States v. Kings87
F.3d 1189 (9th Cir. 2012) (analyzing actimought against law enforcement officers
who participated in a combaa state and federal ganghkdorce under section 1983);
Reynoso v. City & Cnipf S.F, No. C 10-00984 SI, 2012 W&46232, at *5-6 (N.D.
Cal. Feb. 28, 2012) (finding plaintiffs suffently alleged a symbiotic relationship
between police officers and ATF agents engggn a search of plaintiffs’ residerice
to claim liability under section 19833ge also Byars v. United Stat@33 U.S. 28§,

32 (1927) (“[T]he mergarticipation in a state search of one who is a federal officer
does not render it a federal undertaking.”tcérdingly, to the extent that Faw movyes
to dismiss on the grounds that Plaintiffgoroperly brought this action as a section
1983 action, the motion BENIED .3

3 Although courts have considerethims denominated as section 1983
claims against federal officers to Bavensclaims for the purpose of deciding a
motion to dismiss, as the same analysisdgrgpplies, the Court declines to read a
Bivensclaim into Plaintiffs’ ComplaintSee Morsgl18 F.3d at 1340 n. 4 (assuming,
as did the district court, for the purposkdeciding a motion to dismiss that the

—-10 - 14cv02181
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C. Motion to Dismiss First Cause ofAction: Invalid Search Warrant
in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Against Stevens

Faw moves to dismiss Plaintiffs’ fireause of action for search and seizure
unsupported by a warrant. The Fouftthendment prohibits a search condugted
pursuant to “an ill-begotten atherwise invalid warrant.”"Bravo v. City of Santa
Maria, 665 F.3d 1076, 1083 (9th rCi2011). To establish a claim of judigial
deception under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a plaintiff must “(1) establish that the warrant
affidavit contained misrepsentations or omissions material to the finding of
probable cause, and (2) makésabstantial showing’ thahe misrepresentations|or
omissions were made intentionally orthwreckless disregard for the truth.ld.
(citing Ewing v. City of Stocktob88 F.3d 1218, 1223-24 (9th Cir. 2009)).

Plaintiffs allege Stevens made fraudulstatements in his warrant affidavit
“concerning the amount of marijuana ondiRtiffs’ property] and the implications
of California’s medical marijuanlaws in an effort to subxtehe magistrate’s neutral
function in issuing warrant& violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendmegnts
to the U.S. Constitution.” (Compl. at { B1As a “proximate result of Stevens’s
conduct,” Plaintiffs allege'Judge Rubin issued a warrant that was not in|fact
supported by probable cause,igfhled to an illegal search” of Plaintiffs’ property,
the illegal arrest of Plaintiffs, and the dl@ seizure and destruction of Plaintiffs’
marijuana. Id. at § 32.)

Faw moves to dismiss this cause of@tidn the grounds that it is not diregted
to him, as it is not alleged that he partatigpd in obtaining the search warrant. (ECF

No. 13-1 at p. 9.) Plaintiffs agree thlé only defendant on this cause of actign is

plaintiff's claim couldhave been brought undBivensalthough the complaint onlly
recited a section 1983 claingee alsovan Strum v. Lawr40 F.2d 406, 409 (9th
Cir. 1991) (“Actions under pction] 1983 and those und@ivensare identical save
for the replacement of a state actmder [section] 1983 by federal actor under
Bivens?) If Plaintiffs wish to bring section 1983 aBivensclaims, in the alternative,
they must specifically do so in a Fisstnended Complaint, and provide supporting
factual allegations for each claim.

—-11 - 14cv02181
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Stevens. $eeECF No. 15 at p. 1.Accordingly, the CourGRANTS Faw’s motion

to dismiss the first cause of action as to him.

D. Motion to Dismiss Second Cause of Action: Unreasonable Search in

Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Against All Defendants

Plaintiffs allege the Defendant Gférs conducted an unreasble search of

Plaintiffs’ property. (Complat § 37.) “The test of whas necessary to ‘executé a

warrant effectively’ is reasonablenes§&an Jose Charter of Hells Angels Motorcycle

Club v. City of San Josd02 F. 3d 962, 971 {9 Cir. 2005) (quoting.awmaster V.

Ward, 125 F. 3d 1341, 1349 (10th Cir. 1997} court “must examine the totality
the circumstances to determine whetaegiven search was reasonably execu
United States v. Compg894 F.3d 739, 743 (9th Cir. 2005). “[T]he test
reasonableness is often a question for the judatkson v. City of BremertpA68
F.3d 646, n. 1 (9th Cir. 2001).

1. Stevens and Sobczak

Stevens and Sobczak move to dismiss the second cause of action

grounds that “[d]escribing the executiontbé search warraiais ‘SWAT-style’ and

identifying the clothes worn and the vpems carried by the officers does not m
the search unlawful.” (ECF No. 7-1 at p. 3n)the Complaint, Plaintiffs allege th
the Defendant Officers executed the seamerant at approximately 5:00 a.m.

October 17, 2012, unannounceaind “stormed” the property wearing militg

fatigues and using assault rifles “in a 8Wstyle raid with weapons drawn.

(Compl. at 11 15, 16, 37.) Plaintiffs alletpat the execution of the search in su
manner was unreasonable in violation of #ourth and Fourteenth Amendme
(Id. at 1 37.)

The deployment of a SWAT team inetldark with weapons drawn may

considered unreasonable in lighttloé totality of the circumstanceSee Bravp665

F. 3d. at 1086 (“SWAT officers’ nighttimeearches . . . cotiigite much greate

intrusions on one’s privacy than ordinalgytime searches and carry a much hi
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risk of injury to persons and propertyllexander v. City & Cnty. of S,FR29 F.3¢
1355, 1366-67 (9th Cir. 1994) (explaining tagtiry might conclude that deploymq
of a SWAT team for the purpose ioEpecting property was excessivieplland ex
rel. Overdorff v. Harrington268 F.3d 1179, 1190 (10thrCR001) (“[T]he decisio
to deploy a SWAT team to egute a warrant must beeasonable’ because it larg
determines how the seizure is carried, dbereby determining the extent of

intrusion on the individual’'s Fourth Amendment interestsE3tate of Smith )
Marascq 430 F.3d 140, 149 (3d Cir. 2005) (‘[Aecision to employ a SWAT-tyy
team can constitute excessiwgce if it is not ‘objectively reasonable’ to do sg
light of ‘the totality ofthe circumstances.””Rush v. City of Mansfield@71 F. Supy
2d 827, 857-59 (N.D. Ohio 2Q] (finding a reasonable jugould conclude that th
use of a SWAT-style team was unreasonabl&he decision to deploy a SWA
team to execute a warrargaessarily involves the decision to make an overwhel
show of force—force far greater than thatrmally applied in police encounters W
citizens.” Holland ex rel. Overdorff268 F.3d at 1190. Therefore, as the N
Circuit has stated, a “nighttime incursiby a SWAT force is a far more seriq
occurrence than an ordinary daytime usion pursuant to a regular warrant

therefore requires higher justificatiomoed mere probable cause to seardravo
665 F.3d. at 1086.

Given the alleged timena manner of the search, the Court finds Plain

have pleaded “enough facts tatst a claim to relief thas plausible on its face|

Twombly 550 U.S. at 570. Accordingly, the CoENIES the motion to dismis
filed by Stevens and Sobczak on the second cause of action.
2. Faw
Faw moves to dismiss the second causactibn on the grounds of qualifi
immunity, arguing that “officers who execugéesearch warrant often enter int
dangerous situation that requires the afsprotective gear, weapons, and some

of force in order to minimize the risk dfarm to both officers and occupants,”

—-13 - 14cv02181
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searching the residence of suspectedgdtraffickers presents an “inherern
dangerous” situation. (ECF No. 13-1 at pp. 10-11.)

“The doctrine of qualified immunity protects government officials ‘f
liability for civil damages insofar as th&@onduct does not violatclearly establishe
statutory or constitutional rights of wii@ reasonable perswould have known.’
Pearson v. Callahgnb55 U.S. 223, 231 (2009yyoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald457
U.S. 800, 818 (1982)). Qualilemmunity shields an ofter from liability even i

his or her action resulted from “a mistake lafv, a mistake of fact, or a mistg

based on mixed questiontlaw and fact.” Id. (quotingGroh v. Ramirez540 U.S|

551, 567 (2004)). The purpose of qualified iomty is to strike a balance betwsd
the competing “need to hold public officials accountable when they exercise
irresponsibly and the need to shield afils from harassment, distraction,
liability when they perform their duties reasonablyd:

“Determining whether officials are owed qualified immunity involves
inquiries: (1) whether, taken in the lightost favorable to the party asserting
injury, the facts alleged show the officgalonduct violated a constitutional rig

and (2) if so, whether the right was clearlyadéished in light of the specific contg

of the case.”Robinson v. Yorkb66 F.3d 817, 821 (9th Cir. 2009) (citiBgucier v

Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001)). The Supremei€hbas instructed that courts n
exercise “sound discretion in deciding ialn of the two prongs of the qualifig
immunity analysis shoulde addressed first.Pearson 555 U.S. at 236.

As discussed above, the Court has alyedetermined that Plaintiffs ha
pleaded enough facts to plausibly allegeviolation of the Fourth Amendme
Accordingly, the Court turns to whether the right was clearly established at th
of the incident. SeeJensen v. City of Oxnard45 F.3d 1078, 1085 (9th Cir. 19§
(“A particular right is clearly establisbeif the contours of [that] right [ar
sufficiently clear that a reasonable officiabuld understand that what he is dg

violates that right.” (internal quotatiorand citation omitted)). While officers g
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given greater latitude in the executionaodearch warrant itinherently dangerous
situations,see Avina v. United State881 F.3d 1127, 1131-38th Cir. 2012), th
Ninth Circuit had clearly established at timae of the alleged incident that the use

D

of a SWAT team, particularly at night, may be unreasonable under the totality of the
circumstancessee Alexander29 F.3d at 1366-6 Bravo, 665 F. 3d. at 1086. Here,
Plaintiffs allege the Officer Defendts arrived at 5:00 a.m., unannounced, |and
“stormed” the property wearing military fgties and using assautftes “in a SWAT-
style raid with weapons drawn.”Sé& Compl. at §{ 15-16, 37.) Plaintiffs further
allege that the search warrant was ésklbecause of the observed cultivation of
marijuana plants by an elderly couple suifig from several serious ailments, which
does not automatically imply the samedkeof dangerousness as suspected |drug
traffickers or gang memberS&ee Avina681 F.3d at 1131-32 (inherently dangefous
situation where warrant authorized for residence of suspected drug trafficker);
Muehler v. Mena544 U.S. 93, 100 (2005) (inhetgndangerous situation where
search warrant authorized a searchwenpons and a wanted gang member regided
on premises)see alscAlexander 29 F.3d at 1367 (“The foe which was applied
must be balanced against tiedfor that forcel[.]”).
Given the foregoing, and considering alleged facts in the light mgst
favorable to Plaintiffs, the Court cannotelenine at this time whether Faw is entitled
to qualified immunity on this cause aftion. Accordingly, the CouDENIES
Faw’'s motion to dismiss the second acaud action on the grounds of qualified
Immunity.
E. Motion to Dismiss Third Cause of Action: Excessive Force ip
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Against All Defendants
Plaintiffs allege the Defendant Offieefviolated the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the U.S. Constitution byngsexcessive force on and effectuating
an unreasonable arrest of [Mrs. Little], @der, seriously ill woman of small statute

who posed no threat to the legitimate integesff the officers. (Compl. at T 43.)

- 15— 14cv02181
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Specifically, Plaintiffs allege the Defeant Officers used excessive force by

“handcuffing her wrists, placing them betiher back, and plagy her in the bagk

of a police cruiser, which caused [Mrsittle] serious physical discomfort;” (

(1)

)

“leaving on the air conditioning in the police cruiser despite the cold air outside and

[Mrs. Little] having informed the [offices] that she had been suffering fr

om

pneumonia for two months;” (3) “ordering [Mrs. Little] to remain seated while

handcuffed near a hill full of red ants afsihe expressly informed [officers] that ¢

was seriously allergic to rexhts;” (4) “ordering [Mrs. litle] to remainseated whils

handcuffed outside despite thery cold temperaturesd that [Mrs. Little] only wa

wearing shorts and a t-shirt;” and (5)iling to allow [Mrs. Little] to use th

bathroom despite her informing the [officetbht she could natontrol her bladder

due to radiation damage.’ld()

he

D v/

U)

e

Stevens and Sobczak moedismiss the third cause of action for excegsive

force on the basis that no excessive force used. Defendantsgare that “none of

the alleged facts in the complaint involuweyaactual force.” (ECF No. 7-1 at p.

61

line 14.) Faw similarly moves to disssi on the grounds that only “very minirpal

force that was incident to the executionao$earch warrant” was used in arresting

Mrs. Little. (ECF No. 13-1 at p. 14, lines 18-20.)

“Determining whether the force used fteet a particular seizure is reasonable

under the Fourth Amendment requires a careful balancingeafature and quali
of the intrusion on the individual's darth Amendment interests against
countervailing governmental interests at stak&raham v. Connqr490 U.S. 384

396 (1989) (internal quotation marks aadation omitted). A court must fir

3%
the

consider the nature and quality of the uision, evaluating the type and amount of

force inflicted. Mattos v. Agaranp661 F.3d 433, 441 (9th Cir. 2011) (citibgorle

v. Rutherford272 F.3d 1272, 1279-&0th Cir. 2001))Chew v. Gate27 F.3d 1432,

1440 (9th Cir. 1994). Next, ¢hcourt must determine tlgovernment’s interest

stake in the use of force, weighing fastdmcluding the severity of the crime

- 16 — 14cv02181
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issue, whether the suspect poses an imnmethatat to the safety of the officerg or
others, and whether [the sesp] is actively resistingreest or attempting to evape
arrest by flight.” Graham 490 U.S. at 3965ee alsdMattos 661 F.3d at 441 (citing
Deorle 272 F.3d at 1279-80). “These factdiswever, are not exclusive. Rather,
[courts should] examine the totality ofetltircumstances antbnsider ‘whatever
specific factors may be appropriate in atigalar case, whether or not listed| in
Graham™ Bryan v. MacPhersgn630 F.3d 805, 826 (9th Cir. 2010) (quoting
Franklin v. Foxworth 31 F.3d 873, 876 (9th Cir. 1994)).
The reasonableness of a particularafderce requires taking the “perspectjve
of a reasonable officer on the scene, rathan with the 20/20 vision of hindsight.”
Graham 490 U.S. at 396. “The right to make amest carries with it the right to
employ some level of force to effect itBryan 630 F.3d at 818 (citinGraham 490
U.S. at 396). Thus, “[a] coumust consider that theffmer may be reacting toja
dynamic and evolving situation, requiring thféicer to make split-second decisions.”
Id. (citing Graham 490 U.S. at 396-97). “[A]n officer need not have perfect
judgment, nor must he resort only tbe least amount of force necessary to
accomplish legitimate law &rcement objectives.’ld.

1. Handcuffing

The Ninth Circuit has held that excasdy tight handcuffing can constitute a
Fourth Amendment violation, but only wre a plaintiff claims to have been
demonstrably injured by the handcuffs ores complaints to the officers about {the
handcuffs being too tight or painful are ignoreégee e.g., Wall v. Cnty. of Oranpe,
364 F.3d 1107, 1109-12 (9thrCR004) (denying qualif immunity on excessiye
force claim where arrestee seiféd nerve damage as a testicontinued restraint in
tight handcuffs),LaLonde v. Cnty. of Riverside04 F.3d 947, 952, 960 (9th Cir.
2000) (finding excessive force question shdwdgle gone to a jury where an arrestee
complained to officer who refused to loosen handcufa)mer v. Sanderse® F.3q

1433, 1434-36 (9th Cir. 1998)enying officer’'s motion for summary judgment{on

—-17 - 14cv02181
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excessive force claim whererestee’s wrists were discolored and officer ignored his
complaint);Hansen v. Black885 F.2d 642, 645 (9th Cik989) (finding district coufrt
improperly granted summary judgment féaers where arrestee received treatment
for injuries sustained agasult of rough handcuffingHupp v. City of Walnut Cregk
389 F. Supp. 2d 1229, 1238I.Dp. Cal. 2005) (denying plaintiff's motion fpr
summary judgment in the absence of “eviceenf a physical manifestation of injury
or of a complaint about tight handcuffs that was ignorediychett v. Kiefer310
F.3d 937, 945 (6th Cir. 2002) (refusing fiad a constitutional violation where
officers immediately acted after arresteenptained that handcuffs were too tight).

Plaintiffs have not alleged that Mrkittle was demonstrably injured by the
handcuffs or that she made any compgkawmhich were ignad by the Defendant
Officers about the tightness of the handcuffa&ccordingly, the Court finds that
Plaintiffs do not sufficiently allege a constitinal violation with respect to how Mis.
Little was handcuffed durg the arrest anGRANTS the motions to dismiss filed
by Stevens, Sobczak, and Faw on this cMifitH LEAVE TO AMEND .

2. Air Conditioned Vehicle
Plaintiffs rely onKassab v. San Diego Police Dept53 F. App’x. 747 (9th

Cir. 2011), for their claim that putting Mrkittle in an air condioned car on a cold

day, while she was only wearing shorts andshirt, after she informed the officers
she had pneumonia, constitsitexcessive force. IKassal) the Ninth Circuit
reversed the district court’s grant oihsmnary judgment to defendant officers where
the officers allegedly detained the plaintiff a police car for more than four hours,
with the windows rolled up, no air conditiong, and an interior temperature of 115
degrees.”ld. at 748. The plaintiff claimed to ta “suffered fromheat stroke, had
difficulty breathing, and almogtassed out several timedd. However, irDillman

v. VasquezNo. 13—-CV-00404 LJO SKO, 2015 V881574 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 2, 2015),
the court found there was no violationtbg plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendment rights

where the plaintiffs were exposed tocegsive heat for a time period between|one

- 18 — 14cv02181
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(emphasis in original). Thigillman court explained:
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Id. at *9.

temperatures of the policehiele, what the approximatemperature was inside t

vehicle, whether the officers were subjéztthe same conditions, or how she

Whereas an “unnecessary exposuriedat” may cause a constitutional
violation, see Dillman v. Tuolumne Cnty.No. 1:13—-cv—-404-LJO-
SKO, 2013 WL 1907379, at *15 (E.@al. May 7, 2013) (discussing
cases) (“MTD Order”), being brily confined in uncomfortable
conditions, such as a hot patrol,admes not amount to a constitutional
violation. See Estmon v. City of New Y081 F. Supp. 2d 202, 214
(S.D. N.Y. 2005) (finding no Fourth Amendment violation where the
plaintiff was held in hot police car for ten minuteSjost v. Agnos152
F.3d 1124, 1130 (9th Cir. 1998) r{fling “without merit” pretrial
detainee’s “complain[tjabout the temperature in his cell,” where
plaintiff failed to show those citnstances “ultimately deprived him
of the minimal civilized measures bfe’s necessities). In every case
finding that a plaintiff’s Fourth Amedment rights were violated due to
being exposed to excessive hetite plaintiff was confined for
substantially longer periods dime than were Plaintiffs.See, e.g.
Burchett v. Kiefer310 F.3d 937, 945 (6th Cir. 2002) (arrestee held in
police vehicle for three hours in 90 degree hddbpe v. Pelzer536
U.S. 730, 738, 122 S.Ct. 2508, 15FH.2d 666 (2002) (prisoner tied
to hitching post and exposed to sun for seven hokiessah 453 Fed.
App’x at 748 (arrestee held in police car for more than four hours).
Conversely, the Fifth Circuit helthat “a post-arrest detention for
approximately one-half hour in an umigated police vehicle in the sun
was not in violation of the Fourth AmendmenAtfias [v. Amado},
2014 WL 6633240, at *10 [(E.D. CadNov. 21, 2014)] (citingslenn v.
City of Tyler 242 F.3d 307, 314 (5th Cir. 2001)). Thus, the case law
suggests that a brief (e.g., 30—minute—long) confinement in a hot patrol
car does not violate the Fourth Amendmeeg, e.g.Glenn 242 F.3d

at 314, but an extended (e.gouf-hour-long) confinement in a hot
police car does violate the Fourth Amendmebee, e.gKassah 453
Fed. App’x at 478.

Here, Plaintiffs have not alleged homtpMrs. Little was subjected to the ¢
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injured as a result. ABillman states, these factors are relevant to determining the
unreasonableness of the confinement. seéklh such allegations, the Court finds
Plaintiffs have failed to sufficiently allege constitutional violation with respect|to
this claim andGRANTS the motions to dismiss fildoy Stevens, Sobczak, and Haw
on this claimwITH LEAVE TO AMEND .
3. AntHill
Plaintiffs cite no authority to show thatibg seated in a chair on top of or near

an anthill of red ants after officers are infeed the arrestee is extremely allergit to

)

red ants constitutes excessive forttowever, the Court finds the facts Bérry v.
Post No. CIV 04-2842—-PHX-JAT (VAM), 200@VL 3333092 (D. Ariz. Nov. 16,
2006) to be instructive. IRerry, the court found the plaintiff had established an
ff

ten feet into an ant bed where he wagehitwenty times in two minutes while jan

excessive force claim when the defendzffiters purposefully dragged the plaing

officer taunted him about being bitteld. at *2-4. In making this determination, the
court stated that “[p]urposdiy dragging someone into amt bed to be bitten might
not be near the top of the Supreme Caulitt [‘'of all the acts by which cruel apd
sadistic purpose to haranother would be manifestfjut the conduct definitely
would make the list.”Id. at *4. ThePerry court rejected the defendant officers’
“contention that [the] [p]laintiff must have suffereghysicalinjury to establish a
constitutional violation.”ld. at *5 (emphasis in original).
In this case, however, there is no gdaon that Mrs. Little had any physical
contact with the red ants, there was anygda of physical contact, how long she was
near the red ants, or that Mrs. Littleffesed any injury other than mental gnd
emotional pain as a result of being nearahthill. She simplyl&eges she was seated
in a chair that was either “on top of” ‘trear” a red anthill for an unspecified perjod
of time. Cf. Compl. at T 21 witlf] 43(c)).) Guided byerry, the Court finds the
mental and emotional paifieged as a result of being merely being near—but not in

actual contact with—red ants for an unspecified period of time, even when someon:

- 20— 14cv02181
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is seriously allergic to them, does naterito the level of plusibility required t
establish a claim foexcessive forceCf. Robinson v. Solano Cnty278 F. 3d 100]
1010-15 (9th Cir. 2002) (finding sufficierdllegations of a Fourth Amendm:d
violation where an unarmegeaceful plaintiff “fearedor his life” when defendaf
officer held a gun “three or four feet” frometiplaintiff's head). As such, the Co
GRANTS the motions to dismiss filed by Stevens, Sobczak, and Faw on thig
WITH LEAVE TO AMEND .

4. Cold Temperatures and Minimal Clothing

As previously discussed, courts hafeeind that “unnecessary detentiorn

extreme temperatures,” in@ling extremely cold weatheviolates the Fourth

Amendment’s prohibitions on unreamble searches and seizurbfiller v. Sanilag
Cnty, 606 F.3d 240, 251 (6th Cir. 2010) (quotiBgrchett v. Kiefer310 F.3d 937
945 (6th Cir. 2002))see also Kassaldb3 F. App’x. at 748. Here, Plaintiffs simj

D
71
PNt
nt
urt

claim

in

y
1

ly

allege the defendant officers committeccessive force when they ordered Mrs.

Little “to remain seated while handcuffed sidie despite the very cold temperatt
and . . . [Mrs. Little] only was wearing shodasd a t-shirt.” (Compl. at § 43(c).)
The Court finds these allegations insufficient to plausibly allege an exc
force claim, in light of théact there are no allegationstashow cold it was outsid
how long Mrs. Little remained outside, whether the Defendant Officers
subjected to the same temperaturesetir or not Mrs. Little informed th
Defendant Officers that she was cold, WwiggtMrs. Little needednedical attentio
as a result of being in the cold, or howaMLittle was injuredas a result of bein
seated in such a conditioBee Miller 606 F.3d at 251-52 (finding no excessive fq
where there were no allegations the arrestesl@ftin the cold longer than necess

to conduct a field sobriety test or thag ttleputy was not exposed to the cold fof

Ires

essive
e,
were
e

N
g
prce
ary
the

same amount of time, and the arrestee nelérthe deputy he was cold or indicated

he needed medical attention duringe thooking process, and did not pres
symptoms for hypothermia)phnson v. CiesielskNo. 10-cv-1453-LIJM-DML, 201
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WL 139673, at *4 (S.D. Ind. Jan. 8, 201@nding no excessive force where [an
individual was allegedly “andcuffed in sub-freezing weather [and] placed on the
curb with no more than aithjacket and shorts, andldéhim for a time exceeding
one (1) hour,” where there was no evideneeplaintiff demonstrated any symptoms
of hypothermia, complained of being cotdquested any medicattention, or had
medical records showing he sufferaal adverse reaction to the weathege alsp
Arias v. Amadar61 F. Supp. 3d 96®75-76 (E.D. Cal. 2014) (finding force is not
excessive when an arrestee@xposed to extreme temperatures for thirty minutes or
less). Accordingly, the CouftRANTS the motions to dismiss filed by Stevens,
Sobczak, and Faw on this claitiTH LEAVE TO AMEND .
S. Restroom

Plaintiffs allege that “on several @asions [Mrs. Little]also informed the
[Defendant] [O]fficers thashe needed to use the bathroom and could not control her
bladder because of radiation damagédo bladder and intestines from her cancer
treatment. Nonetheless, tligefendant] [Ol]fficers did noallow [Mrs. Little] to use

14

the bathroom.” (Compl. 122.) As a res{\ys. Little] involuntarily relieved herse|f
while seated outside and was unablectange into clean clothing until the
[defendant] officers left.” Ifl.) Although Plaintiffs bring tis alleged violation as an
excessive force claim, the Court has notled any case law finding that the refusal
to allow a detainee to use the restroom ttutss “excessive force.Such refusal is
more properly analyzed under the Fouktnendment’s prohibition on unreasongble
detention.
Under Supreme Court andiih Circuit precedent, “the police may detajn a
building’s occupants while officers executeearch warrant as long as the detention
Is reasonable.’Dawson v. City of Seattld35 F.3d 1054, 1065 (9th Cir. 2006). “The
reasonableness of a detention made putdoam search warrant is examined under
the totality of the circumstances and inclsid®nsideration of any danger posed to

the police by the detainee, the nature of the crime being investigated/the objett of th
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search, any resistance by the detaineeatjee of the detainee, and the healt

medical condition of the detaineeCampbell v. City of BakersfigltNo. CIV FO4+

5585 AWI TAG, 2006 WL 2054072, at *2@.D. Cal. July 21, 2006) (citin
Franklin, 31 F.3d at 876). “A detention conduwtt@ connection with a search m
be unreasonable if it is unnecessarily painfidgrading, or prolonged, or if
involves an undue invasion of privacyFranklin, 31 F.3d at 876. “Detentior
particularly lengthy detentions, of the aliye or of children, or of individua
suffering from a serious iliness or dislaty raise additional concerns.Id.

Under certain circumstances, refusingliow a detained individual to use 1
restroom may rise to the level of a Foudtmendment violation, but the Court fin
no authority, and Plaintiffs cite none, edisifing the right on the part of one lawfu
detained pursuant to the execution of arcle warrant to use a toilet upon demg
See Hunter v. Namanng19 F. 3d 825, 831 (8th Cir. 2008ge alsddawson 435
F.3d at 1069 (“[D]enying Plaintiffs’ requiss. . . to use the restroom unatten

furthered the officers’ interest in facilitag an efficient inspection by [Departmd

N Or

g
ay
it
1S,

S

he
ds
lly
and.

ded

nt

U

of Public Health] personnels “[a] tenant left unsupenad to use the restroom |. .

could retrieve a weapon andsaslt an officer.”). IrHunter, for example, during §
hour-and-a-half search, the plaintiff “asked®allowed to use the toilet, explain
that she was disabled and taking medarathat caused her to urinate frequently.
officers refused [the plaintiff's] repeateequests until she urired and defecated {
herself.” Id. at 828. In granting qualified immunity to the defendant officer or
claimed violation of rights resulting from hienial of the plaintiff's request to u
the toilet, the Eighth Circuit explainedathalthough the plaintiff's “dignity wa
certainly compromised by what transpirad the search was conducted, [it v
unable to conclude that tl@onstitution requires that pok engaged in a search
drugs allow a resident of the subject prap@iccess to a ready means of dispos
such contraband.1d. at 831.
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As mentioned above, the lengthtime of the detention garticularly relevan

[.

Cf. Heitschmidt v. City of Houstpa61 F.3d 834, 837-39 (5th Cir. 1998) (find
that a detainee who was “held for more tf@mr hours in painful restraints withd
being allowed access to a bathroom, evWeough he was not a target of
investigation and police had no articulable reason for suspecting him of miscq
had “at least conceivably alleged a vima of his clearly established Fou
Amendment right to be freleom unreasonable seizureRBac. Marine Citr., Inc. \
Silva, 809 F. Supp. 2d 1266, 1286-87 (E.D. @8IL1) (although “[a] complete den
of the usage of the toilet over the periodnsény hours . . might give rise tq
constitutional violation,” only “[o]ne redest to use the restroom over a four |
period is not a constitutional violation.”f;ampbel] 2006 WL 2054072, at *2
(denying summary judgment and qualified iommty after finding that “three refusa
to use the restroom after six hours is argyabhecessarily degrading and painfy
Given the foregoing, the Court finds Riaffs have not plausibly alleged
excessive force claim. Even if the Cocwhsiders this claim as one for unreason
search under the vague languaf@aragraph 37 of the Conaint, as Plaintiffs d
not allege how long Mrs.ittle was detained or prevented from using the restr

the Court finds the facts as stated i tGomplaint do not rise to the level

plausibility required to allega constitutional violation, an@RANTS the motions

to dismiss filed by Steven§obczak, and Faw on this claMdiITH LEAVE TO
AMEND.

I

I
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F. Motion to Dismiss Fourth Cause of Action for Violation of 42 U.S.Q.

§ 1983:Miranda Violations Against Steven$

Plaintiffs allege that Stevens “vidéal the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments

to the U.S. Constitution by interrogatingethITTLES while they were in custogy

without reading them their rights, as requiredMbiyanda v. Arizona384 U.S. 48

(1966).” (Compl. at § 4%ee alsdff 18, 20, 50-52.) “Th®liranda exclusionary

rule [is] a prophylactic measaito prevent violations of the right protected by the

b

text

of the Self—Incrimination Clause [of éhFifth Amendment]—the admission into

evidence in a criminal case of confess obtained through coercive custo

guestioning.”"Chavez v. Martinez38 U.S. 760, 772 (2003)However, failing to

read a suspect his or dirandarights is not a Fifth Amendment violation “abs

use of the statementsancriminal case.”Stoot v. City of Everets82 F. 3d 910, 923

(9th Cir. 2009) (citingChavez 538 U.S. at 766). A statentéihas been ‘used’ in
criminal case when it has been relied updiiédormal charges agnst the declararn
to determine judicially that the prosecution may proceed, and to determine
custody status.ld. at 925. A Fifth Amendmemdliranda violation may provide th
basis for a section 1983 actio8ee Crowe v. Cnty. of San Die§08 F.3d 406, 43
(9th Cir. 2010);Stoot 582 F.3d at 925-26.

Plaintiffs concede in their opposition th#tey failed to allegehat they gav
any statements or that [such statements] weegl against them at trial.” (ECF |
11 at p. 6, lines 3-4.) Plaintiffs furthéiled to allege the statements were
against them in any other capacity, but assert they would be able to allege ad

facts if given leave to amend.S€e id at p. 6, lines 4-7.) Although Stevens

4 Although Plaintiffs state in pageaph 49 that the Defendant Offic
violated the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments “by interrogating the LITTLES
they were in custody without ready them théirgnda) rights,” the rest of th
Complaint clearly indicates that this causeaction is only against Stevens.
Plaintiffs choose to file a First AmendleComplaint, they must clarify who t

defendants are for each cause of actiad,ia what capacity they are being sued.
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Sobczak argue leave to amend should nagrbeted, the Court finds it appropri

to grant Plaintiffs leave to amendkor the foregoing reasons, the COBRANTS

ate

the motions to dismiss filed by Stevensp8&zak, and Faw with respect to this claim

WITH LEAVE TO AMEND .
G. Motion to Dismiss Fifth Cause ofAction for Violation of 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983: Due Process Violatio Against All Defendants

In the Complaint, Plaintiffs claim #t the Defendant Officers violated the

Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. CGim&ion by (1) destroying material,

exculpatory evidence, and (2) deprivingiRtiffs of their marijuana without due

process of law. Id. at 1 54, 55.) Faw moves teutiss this claim on the grounds

that marijuana is “absolutely prohibited bsderal law,” thus Plaintiffs “have no

substantive or procedural due procegghtriunder the Fourteenth Amendmen

[ tO

possess a narcotic that is prohibited urfdderal law.” (ECF No. 13-1 at pp. 15,

16.) Additionally, Faw arguesnder the federal Controll&lbstances Act (“CSA”
marijuana possessed in violatiof the act is subject tmrfeiture and destructio
(Id. at p. 16.)

),

N.

“The Fourteenth Amendment places ggdural constraints on the actionsg of

government that work a deprivation of interests enjoying the stature of ‘prg
within the meaning of # Due Process ClauseMemphis Light Gas & Water Di
v. Craft 436 U.S. 1, 9 (1978). “Property inésts derive ndirom the Constitutio

perty’
V.

N

but from existing rules or understandings ttaim from an independent source such

as state law.”Samson v. City of Bainbridge Islgng83 F.3d 1051, 1057 (9th Cir.
2012) (internal quotations and citation omittesBe Memphis Ligh#36 U.S. at 9;

Lawson v. Umatilla Cnty 139 F.3d 690, 692 (9th Cir. 1998). However, “federal

constitutional law determines whether thaemnast rises to the level of a ‘legitimj
claim of entitlement’ protected by the Due Process Claieniphis Light436 U.S
at 9;Samson683 F.3d at 105T;awson 139 F.3d at 692. That is, even though “9

law creates a property interest, not all estateated rights riséo the level of :
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constitutionally protected interestBrady v. Gebbie859 F.2d 1543, 1548 n. 3 (§
Cir. 1988).

With respect to medicaharijuana, although Califoraistate law may creatd
property interest in the marijuana, Calif@rdistrict courts have found there is
protected property interest for purposes of the Fourteenth Amend®eeBarrios
v. Cnty. of Tularel3—CV-1665 AWI GSA, 2014 WP174746, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Mg
23, 2014); Staffin v. Cnty. of ShastdNo. 13:cv-00315 JAM-CMK, 2013 W
1896812, at *4-5 (E.DCal. May 6, 2013)Schmidt v. Cnty. of NewWo. 10-cv-302]
FCD/EFB, 2011 WL 2967786, at %<{E.D. Cal. July 19, 2011).

As the court explained iBchmidt

The Supreme Court has held that no person can have a legally protecteq
interest in comaband per seSee United States v. JeffeBd2 U.S. 48,
53, 72 S.Ct. 93, 96 L.Ed. 59 (195X¢e also Cooper v. City of
Greenwood, Mississippb04 F.2d 302, 305 (5th Cir.1990) . . . . “An
object is contraband per se if fiessession, withouhore, constitutes

a crime; or in other words, theieno legal purpose to which the object
could be put.” United States v. Harrell530 F.3d 1051, 1057 (9th
Cir.2008). Under the fedal Controlled Substancésct (“CSA”), it is
illegal for any private person to possenarijuana. 21 U.S.C. 8§ 812(c),
841(a)(1), 844(a). Thus, under feddsal, marijuana is contraband per
se, which means no person can hawegnizable legal interest in it.
See Gonzales v. Raichd5 U.S. 1, 27, 125 S.Ct. 2195, 162 L.Ed.2d 1
(2005) (“The CSA designates mjaana as contraband for any
purpose.” (emphasis in original)).

“The Supremacy Clause unambiguouplpvides that if there is any
conflict between federal and state law, federal law shall prevail.at

29. While California’s Compagsnate Use Act (“CUA”) provides
narrow exceptions for marijuana useolving qualified patients and
care givers, federal law dictatesat marijuana is illegal for any
purpose.ld. at 27. . ..

In this case, plaintiff cannotecover damages as a result of the
confiscation or destruction of mprana because he had no cognizable
property interest in the marijuanBlaintiff asserts a due process claim
under the federal Constitan in federal courtwhere, under federal
law, marijuana is undisputabijegal and contraband per se.
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Schmidt2011 WL 2967786, at *5-6.

Plaintiffs’ relianceon Cnty. of Butte v. Super. Ct1l75 Cal. App. 4th 729

(2009), is misplaced. IButte the plaintiff asserted that the destruction of his me
marijuana plants was a violation of dpecess under the California Constituti

and not, as asserted here, a violatf the Fourteenth Amendmerttee Buttel75

dical

on,

Cal. App. 4th at 739-40 (acknowledging tiempassionate Use Act “has no effect

on marijuana arrests and prosecutionsearches and seias under federal law

because “[t]he Act presents the unusual circumstance of a state law that, under limite

circumstances, permits the possessionuflsstance deemedbe contraband und
federal law.”).

As Plaintiffs had no property intereist the marijuana that was protected
the Fourteenth Amendment’s due proceasi®t, Faw’s motion to dismiss Plainti
fifth claim for deprivation of Plaintiffs'marijuana without due process of law
GRANTED WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND. The Court finds that the clai
cannot be saved by amendmefee Schreiber Distrib. CaB06 F.2d at 1401seq
alsoBarrios, 2014 WL 2174746, at *S5taffin 2013 WL 1896812, at *S5chmidf
2011 WL 2967786, at *6.

However, as Plaintiffs point out itheir opposition, Faw does not move

er

to

dismiss Plaintiffs’ claim the Defendantf@krs violated the Fourteenth Amendment

by destroying material, exculpatory evidenc8edECF No. 15 at p. 9.) Faw dg
not make this argument until his reply. ddese Faw did not make this argumer
his initial motion to dismiss, the argument is waiv&ke Someys-- F. Supp. 3d -
-, 2015 WL 4483955, at *13ytch, 2011 WL 839421, at *IFZamanj 491 F.3d §
997;Anderson472 F.3d at 668.

H. Gore’s Motion to Dismiss

Gore moves to dismiss all causes of actigainst him, in both his official a
individual capacities, arguing that “the Coiaupt in the instant case merely alle

that Defendants had promulgated anddd policies causing officers to exed

- 28 — 14cv02181

€es

it in

jes

ute




© 00 N o 0o A~ W N P

N NN NN N N NN P P P B P P PP PR
© N o O~ W N P O © N O 0o M W N P O

warrants unlawfully; such a conclusory, form@iglrecitation of a claim is insufficient
to overcome a motion to disgs.” (ECF No. 7-1 at p.)7 As with Zimmerman, Gore
is being sued solely in his official capacitySeeECF No. 11 at p. 6, lines 11-1P.)
Therefore, this suit shall be tted as a suit against the enti§ee Graham73 U.S
at 165-66Streit v. Cnty. of Los Angelez36 F.3d 552 (9th Cir. 2001).

Local governing bodies can be sued directly under section 1983 when “the
action that is alleged to be uncongidnal implements or executes a policy
statement, ordinance, regulation, or dam officially adoptedand promulgated hy
that body’s officers,” or there is a widespd practice that, although not authorized
by an ordinance or an express municipdigyois “so permanent and well settled as
to constitute a custom or usagith the force of law."Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Serys.
of City of New York436 U.S. 658, 690-91 (1978ge also Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rg of
Bryan Cnty., Okla. v. Browrb20 U.S. 397, 403-04 (199Tastro v. Cnty. of Lags
Angeles797 F.3d 654, 671 (9th Cir. 2015) (“[Algdntiff . . . must show a pattern|of
similar incidents in order for the factfindé conclude that the alleged informal
policy was ‘so permanent and lhsettled’ as to carry the foe of law.”). The Ninth
Circuit has broadly defined “policy” for purposes d¥lanell claim as “a deliberate
choice to follow a course of action .made from among variowdternatives by the
official or officials responsible for estaldtigig final policy with respect to the subject
matter in question.””Brass v. Cnty. of Los Ange|e&28 F.3d 1192, 1199 (9th Qir.
2003) (quoting~airley v. Luman281 F.3d 913, 918 (9th Cir. 2002)). A policy tan
be one of action or inactiorkairley, 218 F.3d at 918.

In the Complaint, Plaintiffs allege Goras the chief policymaker and decision
maker for the San Diego County SherifPepartment on the use of force and|the

disposition of evidence, “promulgated, adeghtratified, and acquiesced to policjes,

° Plaintiffs similarly allege Ge “is the chief policymaker and
decisionmaker for the San Diego County #fisrDepartment.” (Compl. at { 4.)
However, if Plaintiffs choose to file arlst Amended Complaint, they must specify
whether Gore is being sued irshafficial or individual capacity.
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procedures, and customs” governing: (hg“tonduct of investigations and execution
of search warrants relating to marijuana n$kes that cause police officers to conguct
such investigations and execute suchrram@s in violation of the Fourth apd
Fourteenth Amendments;” (2) “the conductpotice contacts with civilians that lead
to arrests of individuals witho regard to whether thean pose a risk of physigal
resistance and with no regard to the discatdppain of those individuals, and sych
policies, procedures, and customs eausolice officers to illegally arrest
individuals;” and (3) “the disposition of @ence in marijuananvestigations by
which law enforcement are directed tazeeand destroy marijuana and marijupna
products soon after collectiomthout regard to the materiality or exculpatory nature
of the evidence and without regard to tights of the owners of the marijuang to
seek its return, even in the face of @nde that the marijuarwas legally possessed
and cultivated.” (Compl. at 11 4, 38, 44, 56.)
While the Ninth Circuit previously haal liberal pleading policy with respect
to Monell claims, requiring nothing more thda bare allegatin that government
officials’ conduct conformed to some dentified government policy or custom,”
this precedent did not surviigbal. AE ex rel. Hernandev. Cnty. of Tulare666
F.3d 631, 636-37 (9th Cir. 2012¢ourts in this circuit now generally dismiss clajms
that fail to identify the specific content tie municipal entity’s alleged policy |or
custom.Seela v. San Mateo Cnty. Transit Didilp. 14-cv-01768-WHO, 2014 WL
4632224, at *7 (N.D. Cabept. 16, 2014).
Underlgbal, the Court finds Plaintiffs’ bare allegations as to Plaintiffs’ second
and third causes of action to be insufficiengive fair notice and to enable Gore to
defend himself effectively. laddition, the allegations witlespect to Plaintiffs’ thirgd
cause of action must fail becauss discussed herein, Ptdfs have failed to allege
a cognizable underlying catsitional violation. See Scott v. Henri¢l39 F.3d 912,
916 (9th Cir. 1994). With respect to Plafiis’ fifth cause of action, Plaintiffg

allegations that Gore “promulgated, adapt ratified, and acquiesced to policjes,
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procedures, and customs governing thisposition of evidence in marijuaha

investigations by which law enforcement dreected to seize and destroy mariju

ana

and marijuana products soon after coll@ctwithout regard to the rights of the

owners of the marijuana to seek its ratueven in the face of evidence that

marijuana was legally possessed and cultivatadst similarly fail because Plaintiffs

have not sufficiently allegean underlying cognizable dyeocess violation. See

Compl. at 1 56.)

However, with respect to Plaintiffs’ allegations that Gore “promulg

the

ated,

adopted, ratified, and acquiesced to poficgocedures, and customs governing the

disposition of evidence in marijuana istigations by which law enforcement

are

directed to seize and destroy marijuana marijuana products soon after collection

without regard to the materiality or expatory nature of ta evidence,” the Court

finds Plaintiffs allegations tbe sufficient to allege Bonell claim. (Compl. at
38, 44, 56.)
Accordingly, Gore’s motion to dismiss tiMonell claims isGRANTED IN

Il

PART, WITH LEAVE TO AMEND as to the second and third causes of agtion,

andDENIED IN PART.
V. CONCLUSION & ORDER

For the foregoing reasons, the CAEBNIES Zimmerman’s motion to dismigs

(ECF No. 3);GRANTS IN PART andDENIES IN PART the motion to dismis
filed by Gore, Sobczak, and Stevens (ECF No. 7); @RANTS IN PART and
DENIES IN PART Faw’'s motion to dismiss (BF No. 13). In summary:
(1) The Complaint only alleges secti@883 causes of action against G
and Zimmerman in their official capacities;
(2) The first cause of action for invalgearch warrant is alleged aga
Stevens only;

(3) The second cause of action for unreabtsaearch is not dismissed;
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(4) The third cause of action for excessfoece is dismissed with leave
amend;
(5) The fourth cause of action fdviranda violations against Stevens

dismissed with leave to amend;

(6) The fifth cause of action for due process violations is dismissed without

leave to amend as to Plaintiffs’agin the Defendant Officers violat

od

the Fourteenth Amendment by depniy Plaintiffs of their marijuan
without due process of law. Howeyé¢he fifth cause of action is n
dismissed as to Plaintiffs’ claithe Defendant Officers violated t
Fourteenth Amendment by destroying material, exculpatory evid
and

(7)  Sheriff Gore is dismissed fromll causes of action except tMonell
claim in the fifth cause of action thia¢ “promulgated, adopted, ratifig
and acquiesced to policies, procedures, and customs governi
disposition of evidence in marijuaninvestigations by which |3
enforcement are directed to sea®d destroy marijuana and marijug
products soon after collection without regard to the materialil
exculpatory nature of the evidence.”

If Plaintiffs wish to file a First Ameded Complaint, they must do so no I

thanJanuary 15, 2016
IT1S SO ORDERED.

DATED: December8, 2015 /) : D
(yillng_ (ke s

Homn. Cynthia Bashant

United States District Judge
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